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I.  THE FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION 

A.  Reports, Policy Statements, and Rules 

1.  Annual Enforcement Report 

On November 16, 2023, the FERC Office of Enforcement (Enforcement) is-
sued its annual Report on Enforcement staff activities during the fiscal year 20231 
that, as in the 2022 report, identified its priorities as focusing on (1) “fraud and 
market manipulation;” (2) “serious violations of the Reliability Standards;” (3) 
“anticompetitive conduct;” (4) “threats to the nation’s energy infrastructure and 
associated impacts on the environment and surrounding communities;” and (5) 
“conduct that threatened the transparency of regulated markets.”2 

In pursuit of these priorities, Enforcement’s Division of Investigations (DOI) 
opened nineteen new investigations in fiscal year 2023,3 down from twenty-one 
the prior year,4 while bringing nine to closure without further action,5 up from 
seven the prior year.6  DOI negotiated twelve settlements that were approved by 
the Commission, resulting in approximately $26.84 million in civil penalties and 
disgorgements of approximately $21.92 million.7  Five of these settlements also 
required the settling parties to adopt some form of compliance monitoring.8  One 
other settlement resolved litigation pending in federal district court proceedings, 
and required disgorgement of $4 million.9  These amounts were higher than the 

 

 1. FERC, 2023 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT (Nov. 16, 2023) (Docket No. AD07-13-017) [hereinafter 
2023 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT]. 
 2. Id. at 6. 
 3. Id. 
 4. FERC, 2022 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT at 6 (Nov. 17, 2022) (Docket No. AD07-13-016) [hereinafter 
2022 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT]. 
 5. 2023 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT, supra note 1, at 6. 
 6. 2022 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT, supra note 4, at 6. 
 7. 2023 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT, supra note 1, at 19. 
 8. See id. at 23-26. 
 9. Id. at 87.  Given the date of the Commission’s order approving the settlement agreement that resolved 
FERC v. Coaltrain Energy, L.P., et al., No. 2:16-cv-00732 (S.D. Ohio), the matter was described in last year’s 
report, but the monies paid will be included in Enforcement’s FY2023 statistics. 
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approximately $23.59 million in civil penalties and $1.8 million in disgorgement 
that resulted from eleven settlements entered into in 2022.10 

FERC’s Division of Audits and Accounting completed nine audits of public 
utility, natural gas, oil, and regional transmission organization companies covering 
a wide array of topics, resulting in sixty-eight findings of noncompliance and 332 
recommendations for corrective action, the majority of which were implemented 
within six months, and directing approximately $33 million in refunds and other 
recoveries.11  This compares to twelve such audits in 2022 that resulted in fifty-
one findings of noncompliance and 258 recommendations for corrective action, 
the majority of which were implemented within six months, and approximately 
$158 million in refunds and other recoveries.12 

FERC’s Division of Analytics and Surveillance (DAS) surveillance staff’s 
activities resulted in twenty-seven natural gas surveillance inquiries, and three re-
ferrals to DOI for investigation; and forty-three electric surveillance inquiries, and 
six referrals to DOI for investigation.13  DAS conducted enhanced surveillance 
related to two disruptive weather events, Winter Storm Elliott and the Winter 
2022/2023 Western Energy Price Spike, which have already resulted in referrals 
to DOI for investigation.14  DAS closed twenty-five electric surveillance inquiries 
with no referral and, as of the end of the fiscal year, continued its work on twelve 
other inquires.15  This compares to twenty-six natural gas surveillance inquiries 
with no referrals to DOI for investigation and thirty-two electric surveillance in-
quiries with two referrals to DOI for investigation in 2022.16 

B.  Enforcement Litigation and Adjudication 

1.  Vitol Inc. 

On August 18, 2023, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit ad-
dressed the timing of FERC’s five-year statute-of-limitations period to bring an 
action to enforce an order assessing a civil penalty under the Federal Power Act 
(FPA).17  In doing so, the Court held that, in the context of a claim for an order to 
affirm the assessment of a civil penalty, the statute of limitations does not begin 
to run until FERC assesses the penalty.18 

On January 6, 2020, FERC filed a complaint in federal court for an order 
affirming the assessment of a penalty issued in October 2019 against Vitol and one 

 

 10. 2022 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT, supra note 4, at 6. 
 11. 2023 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT, supra note 1, at 7. 
 12. 2022 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT, supra note 4, at 7. 
 13. 2023 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT, supra note 1, at 7. 
 14. Id. at 7. 
 15. Id. at 82. 
 16. 2022 REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT, supra note 4, at 7. 
 17. FERC v. Vitol Inc., 79 F.4th 1059 (9th Cir. 2023). 
 18. Id. at 1061. 
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of its traders.19  Vitol argued in a motion to dismiss that FERC’s action was un-
timely because the FPA lacks its own statute of limitations and thus FERC’s ability 
to enforce its assessed civil penalty is subject to the general statute of limitations 
under 28 U.S.C. § 2462.20  According to Vitol, “FERC’s claim accrued as soon as 
the alleged unlawful trading occurred[;]” but to FERC the “claim accrued only 
once the statutory prerequisites for filing suit were satisfied.”21 

The Court, consistent with the Fourth Circuit’s decision in FERC v. Powha-
tan Energy Fund, LLC, 22  concluded that the statute was unambiguous as to 
FERC’s claim,23 providing that only after FERC assessed a civil penalty could the 
claim accrue and the statute of limitations “begin to run.”24  The Court relied on 
Supreme Court precedent to find “that a statute of limitations can create one limi-
tations period for the claim before the agency and a second for a follow-on federal 
court action.”25  Accordingly, only after FERC completes its agency proceeding—
which includes assessing a penalty—may the statute of limitations period for the 
federal court action commence.26 

In sum, Vitol (like Powhatan) holds that FERC must initiate an enforcement 
proceeding at the agency within five years of the alleged unlawful conduct 
(through issuance of a notice of proposed penalty), and, if that proceeding results 
in the assessment of a civil penalty, FERC must file a complaint in federal court 
within five years of its penalty assessment. 

In light of the Ninth Circuit’s holding, FERC’s complaint proceeding against 
Vitol and its trader continued to progress in the District Court for the Eastern Dis-
trict of California. On January 4, 2024, FERC approved a Stipulation and Consent 
Agreement among the parties resolving FERC’s claims against Vitol and its trader 
and FERC’s lawsuit in the District Court.27  Vitol agreed to pay $2,225,000 in civil 
penalties and its trader agreed to pay $75,000 in civil penalties.28 

2.  Axon Enterprise, Inc. v. FTC 

On April 14, 2023, the Supreme Court issued a decision on the timing of 
constitutional challenges to agency enforcement proceedings.29  While the deci-
sion does not involve a FERC matter, it has potential relevance to FERC enforce-
ment proceedings as numerous defendants have argued (see discussion below). 
 

 19. Id. at 1062. 
 20. Id. (quoting the statute, which in relevant part states “an action, suit or proceeding for the enforcement 
of any civil fine, penalty, or forfeiture, pecuniary or otherwise, shall not be entertained unless commenced within 
five years from the date when the claim first accrued.”). 
 21. Id. 
 22. FERC v. Powhatan Energy Fund, LLC, 949 F.3d 891, 899 (4th Cir. 2020). 
 23. Id. at 1063 (“FERC’s claim arises under 16 U.S.C. § 823b(d)(3)(B), which gives the agency a cause 
of action in federal court for ‘affirming the assessment of the civil penalty.’”). 
 24. Id. (“Until there is a civil penalty, a cause of action for affirming the penalty cannot exist.”). 
 25. Id. at 1065. 
 26. Id. at 1066 (relying on FERC v. Powhatan Energy Fund, LLC, 949 F.3d 891, 898-99 (4th Cir. 2020)). 
 27. Order Approving Stipulation and Consent Agreement, Vitol Inc., 186 FERC ¶ 61,008 (2024). 
 28. Id. at P 2. 
 29. Axon Enter., Inc. v. FTC, 143 S. Ct. 890 (2023). 
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In Axon, a consolidated decision in which the Court resolved both the Axon 
case and the companion case, SEC v. Cochran, the Court examined whether re-
spondents in Federal Trade Commission (FTC) and Securities and Exchange Com-
mission (SEC) enforcement proceedings would need to wait until those proceed-
ings concluded before they could challenge in federal court the constitutionality 
of how the proceedings were structured.30 

Axon and Cochran both involved suits filed by respondents while enforce-
ment proceedings against them were pending. Cochran argued that the adminis-
trative law judges (ALJ) in her SEC proceeding “could not constitutionally exer-
cise power” because they were unlawfully protected from the President’s removal 
power.31  Axon raised a similar removal-based challenge to the FTC ALJs’ author-
ity while also arguing that the Commission’s enforcement proceedings impermis-
sibly commingled prosecutorial and adjudicative responsibilities.32  The courts be-
low split as to whether these challenges could proceed concurrently with the 
enforcement proceeding or whether federal courts lack jurisdiction to hear the case 
until the enforcement proceeding is complete.33 

The Supreme Court concluded that the respondents’ suits could proceed even 
during the pendency of their enforcement proceedings.34  It did so by evaluating 
the SEC’s and FTC’s operating statutes under the “Thunder Basin factors,” to de-
termine whether the claim “is ‘of the type’ that Congress thought belonged within 
[the agency’s] statutory [review] scheme”—i.e., the normal process prescribed for 
how claims should proceed from agency resolution to judicial review.35  Under the 
Thunder Basin factors, courts assess whether an agency’s statutory review process 
precludes suits filed through other means by asking (1) whether precluding juris-
diction over the parallel suit could “foreclose all meaningful judicial review” of 
the claim, (2) whether the claim is “wholly collateral to [the] statute’s review pro-
visions,” and (3) whether the claim is “outside the agency’s expertise.”36  The Su-
preme Court found that these factors all favored allowing the respondents’ parallel 
suits to proceed, as the injury of being subjected to an unconstitutional agency 
proceeding is impossible to cure after the fact; the suits challenged “the Commis-
sions’ power to proceed at all, rather than actions taken in the agency proceed-
ings;” and agencies have no special expertise on constitutional separation-of-pow-
ers questions. 37   The Court accordingly remanded the cases for further 
proceedings.38 

 

 30. Id. at 897-99. 
 31. Id. at 898. 
 32. Id. at 899. 
 33. Axon Enter., Inc., 143 S. Ct. at 899-90. Compare Axon Enter. V. FTC, 986 F.3d 1173, 1177 (9th Cir. 
2021) (“Congress impliedly barred jurisdiction . . . and required parties to move forward first in the agency pro-
ceeding”), with Cochran v. SEC, 20 F.4th 194, 197 (5th Cir. 2021) (en banc) (“[T]he Exchange Act does not 
disturb the district court’s jurisdiction over such claims.”). 
 34. Axon Enter. Inc., 598 U.S. at 900. 
 35. Id. at 901-02; see Thunder Basin Coal Co. v. Reich, 510 U.S. 200 (1994). 
 36. Axon Enter. Inc., 143 S. Ct. at 900 (quoting Thunder Basin, 510 U.S. at 212-13). 
 37. Axon Enter. Inc., at 902-06. 
 38. Id. at 906. 
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3.  Rover Pipeline Company, LLC 

On February 1, 2022, while the Supreme Court was deliberating on Axon, 
Rover Pipeline Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court for 
the Northern District of Texas.39  The complaint alleged that FERC’s administra-
tive enforcement action against Rover is contrary to law because the Natural Gas 
Act (NGA) grants federal district courts exclusive jurisdiction over violations of 
the Act.40  According to Rover, FERC should have filed an enforcement action in 
federal district court because the ALJ adjudicative proceedings “deprive accused 
parties of their statutory right to an Article III tribunal” and violate multiple con-
stitutional provisions.41  In May of 2022, the Northern District stayed Rover’s case 
pending Axon.42  On June 14, 2023, while acknowledging the stay order precluded 
further action in the case, FERC issued an Order on Presiding Officer Reassign-
ment directing the Chief Administrative Law Judge to reassign the ongoing en-
forcement hearing to another ALJ not previously involved in the proceeding.43 

FERC subsequently filed before the District Court a Motion for Clarification 
or, in the Alternative, to Lift the Stay for Limited Purposes,44 and Rover filed an 
opposition.45 

On September 13, 2023, the District Court issued an Order denying FERC’s 
motion and staying the case pending resolution of SEC v. Jarkesy, an administra-
tive law case currently pending before the Supreme Court.46 

4.  TotalEnergies Gas & Power North America, Inc. 

On December 13, 2022, and similar to the Rover matter described above, 
TotalEnergies and Gas & Power North America, Inc. filed a complaint before the 
United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas alleging that 
FERC’s enforcement proceeding is unconstitutional, for the same reasons raised 
in the Jarkesy case pending in the Supreme Court, and that these alleged violations 

 

 39. Complaint for Declaratory Relief, Rover Pipeline, LLC, et al. v. FERC, No. 3:22-CV-00232-S (N.D. 
Tex. Feb. 1, 2023), ECF No. 1. 
 40. Id. 
 41. Id. 
 42. Order, Rover Pipeline, LLC, et al. v. FERC, No. 3:22-CV-00232-S (N.D. Tex., May 24, 2022), ECF 
No. 34. 
 43. Rover Pipeline, LLC and Energy Transfer Partners, L.P., 183 FERC ¶ 61,190 (Jun. 14, 2023). 
 44. Defendants’ Motion for Clarification or, in the Alternative, to Lift the Stay for Limited Purpose, Rover 
Pipeline, LLC, et al. v. FERC (N.D. Tex. Jun. 16, 2023), ECF No. 43. 
 45. Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Clarification or, in the Alternative, to Lift the Stay 
for Limited Purpose, Rover Pipeline, LLC, et al. v. FERC (N.D. Tex. Jun. 27, 2023), ECF No. 45. 
 46. Order, Rover Pipeline, LLC, et al. v. FERC (N.D. Tex. Sept. 13, 2023), ECF No. 52 (administratively 
closing the district court proceeding without prejudice to reopening upon motion by any party or to enter a judg-
ment and staying the related FERC proceeding without prejudice to reopening upon a motion by any party). The 
Rover Complaint raises essentially the same issues to be addressed in Jarkesy, which involves three constitutional 
challenges. See SEC v. Jarskey, Jr. et al., Case No. 22-859 (5th Cir. 2023). Specifically, the Court will decide 
whether: (1) the SEC’s in-house adjudication of the case violated the petitioners’ Seventh Amendment right to a 
jury trial, (2) the Commission’s statutory ability to opt to bring securities fraud actions within the agency violated 
the “non-delegation doctrine,” and (3) the statutory removal restrictions for SEC ALJs are unconstitutional. 
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should be addressed in federal court.47  In March, the District Court stayed the case 
pending Axon.48 

On June 14, 2023, also similar to the Rover matter, FERC issued an Order on 
Presiding Officer Reassignment and Providing Further Direction (Reassignment 
Order) directing the Chief Administrative Law Judge to reassign the proceeding 
in Docket No. IN12-17-000 to another ALJ not previously involved in the pro-
ceeding.49  According to FERC, the proceeding was to otherwise remain sus-
pended pursuant to the District Court’s order staying the proceeding pending the 
Supreme Court decision in Axon.50  In the Reassignment Order FERC directed the 
ALJ to offer the parties “the opportunity to specify alleged defects in the hearing 
procedures to date, request presiding officer approval for further discovery or other 
relief, and seek reconsideration of past decisions made by the previous [ALJ] be-
fore December 30, 2022.”51  FERC directed the new ALJ to not “extend any def-
erence to past decisions made by the previous [ALJ] before December 30, 2022,” 
and to independently evaluate any request for reconsideration or other relief sub-
mitted by a participant.52  FERC also directed the new ALJ to ratify the relevant 
past decision made by the previous ALJ to the extent any request for consideration 
was denied in whole or in part.53 

FERC subsequently filed before the District Court a Motion for Clarification 
or, in the Alternative, to Lift the Stay for Limited Purposes.54  On July 14, 2023, 
the District Court granted FERC’s motion as to reassignment of proceedings to a 
new ALJ who has not previously been involved in those proceedings, although the 
court did not address the merits on whether that reassignment was lawful under 
the issues currently before the Supreme Court in Jarkesy.55 

 

 47. Complaint, TotalEnergies Gas & Power N.A., Inc., et al. v. FERC, et al., No. 4:22-CV-04318 (S.D. 
Tex. Dec. 13, 2022), ECF No. 1. 
 48. Order, TotalEnergies Gas & Power N.A., Inc., et al. v. FERC, et al. (S.D. Tex. Mar. 10, 2023), ECF 
No. 52.  
 49. Total Gas & Power North America, Inc., Total, S.A., Total Gas & Power, Ltd., Aaron Hall, and 
Therese Tran f/k/a Nguyen, 183 FERC ¶ 61,189 (Jun. 14, 2023). In the Reassignment Order, and presumably in 
response to potential constitutional concerns, FERC explained that the Commission “precautionarily ratified” the 
appointments of all current ALJs by Commission vote effective December 30, 2022. The Reassignment Order 
referenced a Declaration of Secretary Kimberly D. Bose wherein the Secretary stated “the Chairman of the Com-
mission called for a vote on whether the Commission would ratify the appointments of the Commission’s 12 
Administrative Law Judges, and thereby approve the appointments as the Commission’s own under the Consti-
tution.” In the Response in Opposition to Motion, TotalEnergies Gas & Power N.A., Inc., et al. v. FERC, et al. 
(S.D. Tex. Feb. 6, 2023), according to the Secretary, the vote was conducted “via email” and by December 28, 
2022, “a majority of the Commission voted in the affirmative.” Id.  
 50. Id. at P 3 (citing Minute Order, TotalEnergies Gas & Power N.A., Inc., et al. v. FERC, et al. (S.D. Tex. 
Mar. 10, 2023), ECF No. 52); see also Order, TotalEnergies Gas & Power N.A., Inc, et al. v. FERC, et al., No. 
4:22-cv-04318 (S.D. Tex. Mar. 10, 2023), ECF No. 52. 
 51. 183 FERC ¶ 61,189 at P 5. 
 52. Id. 
 53. Id. 
 54. Defendants’ Motion for Clarification or, in the Alternative, to Lift the Stay for Limited Purpose, To-
talEnergies Gas & Power N.A., Inc., et al. v. FERC et al. (S.D. Tex. Jun. 16, 2023), ECF No. 56. 
 55. Order, TotalEnergies Gas & Power N.A., Inc., et al. v. FERC et al. (S.D. Tex. Jul. 14, 2023), ECF No. 
61. 
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On July 18, 2023, FERC issued an Order of Chief Judge Substituting Presid-
ing Judge that substituted Judge Patricia M. French and relieved the previous 
Judge of all duties with respect to the proceeding.56 

On August 18, 2023, FERC filed before the Southern District a Motion to 
Lift Stay citing the decision in Axon.57  In September, TotalEnergies filed a Re-
sponse arguing that the case should remain stayed pending the Supreme Court’s 
decision in Jarkesy.58  On October 19, 2023, the Southern District denied FERC’s 
Motion to Lift Stay and continued the stay pending resolution of Jarkesy.59 

5.  Powhatan Energy Fund, LLC 

On March 22, 2023, the United States District Court for the Eastern District 
of Virginia issued a Memorandum Opinion60 granting a Motion for Default Judg-
ment against Powhatan Energy Fund, LLC, et al. after FERC alleged Powhatan 
manipulated the day-ahead and real-time energy markets. 

According to FERC, Powhatan conducted wash trades61 that enabled the 
company to receive excessive credit payments from PJM Interconnection, LLC.62  
Powhatan disputed those claims at FERC and in federal court, but after “years of 
discovery,” including expert discovery, “motions practice, and an interlocutory 
appeal” 63 the company filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy. 

The Court determined that because FERC’s allegations were well-pleaded 
and deemed admitted as a result of Powhatan’s default, FERC had shown Powhat-
tan to have violated FERC’s Anti-Manipulation Rule when it “committed (1) 
fraud, with the (2) requisite scienter, and (3) in connection with the purchase or 
sale of electric energy within FERC’s jurisdiction.”64  The Court also found that 

 

 56. Order of Chief Judge Substituting Presiding Judge, Total Gas & Power North America, Inc., et. al., 
FERC Docket No. IN12-17-000 (Jul. 18, 2023). 
 57. Defendant’s Motion to Lift Stay to Decide Plaintiffs’ Motion for Preliminary Injunction, TotalEnergies 
Gas & Power North America, Inc., et al. v. FERC, No. 4:22-cv-04318 (S.D. Tex. Aug. 18, 2023), ECF No. 66. 
 58. Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants’ Motion to Lift Stay, No. 4:22-cv-04318 6 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 8, 2023) 
ECF No. 67. 
 59. Order, TotalEnergies Gas & Power N.A., Inc., et al. v. FERC et al., No. 4:22-cv-04318 1 (S.D. Tex. 
Oct. 19, 2023), ECF No. 77. 
 60. FERC v. Powhatan Energy Fund, LLC, No. 3:15cv452, slip op. at *1 (E.D. Va. Mar. 22, 2023); Chen, 
151 FERC ¶ 61,179, at p. 62,138 (2015) (prior to seeking default judgment, FERC issued an Order Assessing 
Civil Penalties where FERC assessed a civil penalty of $16,800,000 and profit disgorgement payments of 
$3,465,108). 
 61. Powhatan Energy Fund, LLC, slip op. at *1, *4 (quoting FERC’s explanation of wash trades to be 
“trades that are pre-arranged to cancel each other out and involve no economic risk.”). 
 62. Id. at *4. 
 63. Id. at *2 (explaining that Powhatan’s trustee agreed to not oppose the bankruptcy stay being lifted and 
to not oppose or otherwise challenge an entry of a default judgment in exchange for FERC agreeing to not “at-
tempt to enforce or otherwise collect any judgment the Court may issue outside of its claim in the Bankruptcy 
Court.”); see Order Approving Stipulation for Relief from the Automatic Stay, Powhatan Energy Fund, LLC, 
No. 22-10142-MFW (Bankr. Ct. Del. Feb. 14, 2023), ECF No. 15 (Bankruptcy Court’s Order held that FERC is 
“precluded from enforcing, executing on, or collecting any claim or judgment against [Powhattan] or the Estate 
by any means other than through the Chapter 7 process in connection with the FERC Proof of Claim.”). 
 64. Powhatan Energy Fund, LLC, slip op. at *4. 
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no other hearing for damages or any other matter was necessary since the damages 
claimed in the pleadings were “more than sufficiently supported.”65 

C.  Settlements 

1.  Black Hills Corporation 

On December 5, 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and 
Consent Agreement between Enforcement, Black Hills Corporation (BHC), as the 
corporate parent of, and on behalf of its three electric public utility subsidiaries, 
Black Hills Power, Inc. (BHP), Cheyenne Light, Fuel and Power Company (Chey-
enne Light), Black Hills Colorado Electric, LLC (Black Hills Colorado Electric) 
(with BHP, Cheyenne Light and Black Hills Colorado Electric collectively re-
ferred to as the “Black Hills Electric Public Utilities”), related to 103 previously 
unfiled agreements by the Black Hills Electric Public Utilities. 66 

Enforcement determined that BHP submitted a self-report to Enforcement in 
July 2017, reporting “that it had failed to submit to the Commission six jurisdic-
tional agreements.”67  As part of that self-report, BHP stated “that BHC was con-
ducting a comprehensive review for BHP, and also Cheyenne Light and Black 
Hills Colorado Electric, to identify any other contracts that should have been filed 
but were not.”68  “In November 2021, BHC updated the self-report, explaining that 
it had completed its review and identified 97 additional unfiled contracts, necessi-
tating an estimated $1.2 million in refunds at the time of the updated self-report.”69  
The Black Hills Electric Public Utilities had by then “filed all the agreements iden-
tified, some of which had been accepted by the Commission and some of which” 
were pending.70  “Black Hills self-reported all 103 instances of non-filing and co-
operated with Enforcement during the Investigation.”71 

“Enforcement determined that Black Hills violated FPA section 205 and Part 
35 of the Commission’s regulations by commencing jurisdictional service, and 
entering into associated agreements, without providing the requisite notice.”72  En-
forcement further “determined that by failing to file the 103 jurisdictional agree-
ments at issue, Black Hills violated Section 205 and Part 35 of the Commission’s 
regulations.”73 

 

 65. Id. at *6. 
 66. Black Hills Corporation, 185 FERC ¶ 61,072 at P 1 (2023) (stating the Black Hills Electric Public 
Utilities together with BHC are collectively referred to as “Black Hills”). 
 67. Id. at P 4. 
 68. Id. at P 5. 
 69. Id. at P 6. 
 70. 185 FERC ¶ 61,072, at P 8. 
 71. Id. at P 9. 
 72. Id. at P 10. 
 73. Id. at P 12. 
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Black Hills admitted to the violations.74  Black Hills agreed “to pay a civil 
penalty of $150,000” and75 “to submit semi-annual Status Reports detailing the 
filing status of each of the 103 previously unfiled agreements.”76  Black Hills also 
agreed to submit annual compliance monitoring reports for a period of two years.77 

2.  AES Alamitos, LLC 

On October 24 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and Con-
sent Agreement between Enforcement, AES Alamitos, LLC and AES Redondo 
Beach, LLC (collectively, AES) related to AES’s participation in the in the Cali-
fornia Independent System Operator, Inc. (CAISO) capacity market.78 

Enforcement determined that AES owned and operated eight electric gener-
ating resources located in Southern California (the Resources). Enforcement al-
leged that AES provided inaccurate Physical Maximum (Pmax) value submissions 
related to the Resources.79  Enforcement opened its investigation into AES follow-
ing an August 2019 referral from the CAISO Department of Market Monitoring 
(DMM), alleging that AES submitted inaccurate Master File parameters to 
CAISO.80  In spring of 2019, CAISO conducted a Pmax test to determine whether 
most of the resources could reach their Master File Pmax levels.81  In August 2019 
the CAISO DMM informed Enforcement that certain AES units “failed to reach 
their Pmax values as submitted to CAISO in the Master File during summer read-
iness tests conducted in May 2019 and exceptional dispatches occurring in July 
2019.”82 

Enforcement determined that AES violated CAISO Tariff section 4.6.4 when 
the units failed to reach their Master File Pmax values, which demonstrated “that 
the Master File Pmax values were not ‘accurate or actually based on the physical 
characteristics of the resources.’”83  Enforcement further determined that AES vi-
olated CAISO Tariff section 37.3.1.1 by regularly bidding a Resource’s full Mas-
ter File Pmax into the CAISO day-ahead and real-time energy markets and being 
financially compensated for RA capacity even though the Resources could not 
“reasonably [be] expected to be available and capable of performing at the levels 
specified in the Bid, and to remain available and capable of so performing.”84  Fi-
nally, Enforcement determined that AES violated 18 C.F.R. section 35.41(b) for 
its “submission of Master File Pmax values to CAISO that were not accurate and 

 

 74. 185 FERC ¶ 61,072, at P 14. 
 75. Id. at P 15. 
 76. Id. at P 16. 
 77. Id. at P 17. 
 78. AES Alamitos, LLC, 185 FERC ¶ 61,060 at P 1 (2023). 
 79. Id. 
 80. Id. at P 7. 
 81. Id. at P 8. 
 82. 185 FERC ¶ 61,060, at P 8. 
 83. Id. at P 15. 
 84. Id. at P 16. 
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its failure to exercise due diligence to ensure that the submitted Pmax values re-
flected the actual physical capacity of the Resources” and 35.41 (a) through its 
“registration of inaccurate Master File Pmax values, bidding up to the Resources’ 
Master File Pmax value in CAISO’s energy markets, and selling capacity through 
RA contracts that the Resources could not reasonably provide in violation of the 
CAISO Tariff.”85 

AES neither admitted nor denied the violations.86  AES agreed to “‘pay $297 
million in disgorgement to CAISO to be distributed pro rata to be network load,’ 
‘pay a civil penalty of $3.03 million,’ and to submit annual compliance monitoring 
reports for a period of two years.”87 

3.  Georgia-Pacific Crossett LLC 

On September 13, 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and 
Consent Agreement between Enforcement and Georgia-Pacific Crossett LLC 
(GPC) related to GPC’s abandonment of the Crossett Pipeline.88 

Enforcement determined that GPC obtained a certificate to construct and op-
erate the Crossett Pipeline under section 7 of the Natural Gas Act in 1971.89  GPC 
used the pipeline exclusively to supply natural gas to its own plants in Crossett, 
Arkansas.90 In 2019, GPC decided to abandon the pipeline.91  GPC employees or 
its agents substantially completed abandonment work by March 2021.92 

“On November 15, 2021, GPC approved the filing of an abandonment appli-
cation with the Commission.”93  The application stated that abandonment work 
would be undertaken in the future, and did not indicate that any work had already 
been undertaken.94  Enforcement alleged that GPC employees involved in prepar-
ing the application knew that work described in the application had already been 
completed.95  On August 5, 2022, GPC filed a supplement explaining that the 
abandonment activities had already occurred.96 

Enforcement determined that GPC committed two sets of violations.  First, 
GPC abandoned a pipeline without prior Commission approval, contrary to section 
7(b) of the NGA.  Second, GPC filed an abandonment application that did not 
include “‘all pertinent data and information necessary for a full and complete un-
derstanding of the proposed project,’” as required under section 157.5(a) of the 

 

 85. Id. at PP 17-18. 
 86. 185 FERC ¶ 61,060, at P 20. 
 87. Id. at P 21. 
 88. Georgia-Pacific Crossett LLC, 184 FERC ¶ 61,151 at P 1 (2023). 
 89. Id. at P 3. 
 90. Id. at P 4. 
 91. Id. at P 5. 
 92. 184 FERC ¶ 61,151, at P 6. 
 93. Id. at P 7. 
 94. Id. 
 95. Id. at P 8. 
 96. 184 FERC ¶ 61,151, at P 6. 
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Commission’s regulations, “‘all information and supporting data necessary to ex-
plain fully the proposed project,’” as required under section 157.7(a) of the Com-
mission’s regulations, and “‘a full and complete explanation of the data submit-
ted,’” as required under section 157.18 of the Commission’s regulations.97 

GPC neither admitted nor denied the violations.98  “GPC agree[d] to pay a 
civil penalty of $1,200,000.”99 

4.  Big River Steel and Entergy Arkansas 

On August 21, 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and Con-
sent Agreement between Enforcement, Big River Steel, LLC (BRS) and Entergy 
Arkansas LLC (EAL) related to Big River’s and EAL’s participation in the de-
mand response market in the Midcontinent Independent System Operator 
(MISO).100 

Enforcement determined that, from September 2016 to April 2022, while 
BRS operated a steel mill “that uses as much as 300 megawatts to operate electric 
arc furnaces and other equipment,” it participated in the MISO demand response 
market as “BRS’s load levels at its mill rose and fell in the normal course of busi-
ness.”101  BRS participated in MISO as a Demand Response Resource-Type I 
(DRR-1) unit.102  EAL was BRS’s Load Serving Entity and sponsored BRS’s 
DRR-1 participation.103  “MISO made DRR-1 payments whenever BRS cleared 
its DRR-1 offers and BRS’s load was below its” “baseline” using the MISO base-
line calculation methodology.104 

Enforcement determined that EAL and BRS sold energy, “in the form of re-
duced energy usage, in MISO’s Day Ahead and Real Time markets” as a DRR-
1.105  Enforcement determined that BRS generally did not reduce energy consump-
tion levels in response to MISO accepting its demand response offers.  Instead, 
BRS operated at the load levels at which it would have operated if it were not a 
DRR-1 unit.  Enforcement determined that this conduct violated section 
38.2.5(d)(ii)(e) of the MISO Tariff “because BRS did not ‘respond to [MISO] di-
rectives to . . . change output levels’ by reducing its load below what it would oth-
erwise have been.” 

Big River and EAL neither admitted nor denied the violations. Big River paid 
disgorgement of $15,940,399 and a civil penalty of $6,000,000106  EAL disgorged 
$5,033,780 it received, and credited to retail customers and agreed to coordinate 
as necessary with the Arkansas Public Service Commission to ensure the prompt 

 

 97. Id. at P 13. 
 98. Id. at P 14. 
 99. Id. at P 2. 
 100. Big River Steel LLC, 184 FERC ¶ 61,111 at P 1 (2023). 
 101. Id. at PP 1, 5. 
 102. Id. at P 7. 
 103. Id. at PP 6, 9-10. 
 104. 184 FERC ¶ 61,111, at P 15. 
 105. Id. at P 22. 
 106. Id. at P 23. 
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return to its customers of the net amount ($8,181,899) they were charged in con-
nection with BRS’s participation as a DRR-1 unit.107  The Order noted that En-
forcement considered “that an informal MISO presentation to BRS may have sug-
gested that planned outages could qualify to receive demand response payments” 
and that, while not a defense to a tariff violation, this was considered in evaluating 
the appropriate penalty.108 

5.  NRG Energy, Inc. 

On July 20, 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and Consent 
Agreement between Enforcement, and NRG Energy, Inc. (NRG) related to NRG’s 
participation in the PJM Interconnection, LLC (PJM) capacity market.109 

Enforcement determined that NRG failed to operate its combustion turbine 
facilities (Fisk Units) in accordance with the parameter limits contained in its of-
fers into the PJM capacity market.  Specifically, Enforcement determined that 
NRG had not complied with the notification time component of its Parameter Lim-
ited Schedule (PLS), which represents the time needed by a generation resource to 
commence generating once it has received dispatch instructions from PJM.110 

NRG’s PLS notification time was 0.1 hours.111  However, NRG was unable 
to meet this notification time because NRG did not staff the Fisk Units full-time 
and did not have remote start capabilities.  Attachment K-Appendix, section 6.6 
of the PJM Tariff allows a capacity market seller to request (for one-time tempo-
rary exception, lasting thirty days or less) “adjusted unit-specific parameter limi-
tations” if it believes it cannot meet the parameters contained in its PLS due to an 
“actual operating constraint.”112  NRG previously sought approval from PJM to 
modify the 0.1-hour notification time for the Fisk Units due to their limited staff-
ing, but “PJM denied NRG’s request, advising NRG that capacity performance 
resources were ‘expected to be staffed 24/7[/]365 or have remote-start capabili-
ties.’”113  Thereafter, NRG had “used hourly updates through the PJM Markets 
Gateway to reflect a three-hour notification time for the Fisk Units,” which repre-
sented the actual time NRG needed to be able to start the units following a dispatch 
order.114  The PJM Independent Market Monitor (IMM) “inquired about the tem-
porary parameter limited exception and use of the three-hour notification time” in 
June and September of 2018.115 

Enforcement determined that NRG violated Attachment K-Appendix, section 
6.6 of the PJM Tariff, which requires that resources [meet their parameter limits 

 

 107. Id. at PP 30, 32. 
 108. 184 FERC ¶ 61,111, at P 34. 
 109. NRG Energy, Inc., 184 FERC ¶ 61,026 at P 1 (2023). 
 110. Id. at P 17. 
 111. Id. at P 8. 
 112. Id. at P 16. 
 113. 184 FERC ¶ 61,026, at PP 8-9. 
 114. Id. at P 10. 
 115. Id. at P 12. 
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on cost-based offers and certain price-based offers.116  Enforcement determined 
that, notwithstanding NRG’s use of Real Time Values to communicate the actual 
notification time of the Fisk Units, NRG violated Attachment K-Appendix, sec-
tions 6.6 (a) and (b) of the PJM Tariff by operating on a different notification time 
than what was contained in its PLS.117  Enforcement determined that the three-
hour notification time NRG adopted informally was not caused by an “operating 
constraint”: per Attachment K-Appendix, section 6.6 (c), but was “the result of an 
NRG business decision not to staff the Fisk Units 24/7/365 or to install remote 
start capability.”118  Enforcement also determined that NRG violated 18 C.F.R. 
section 35.41(a), which requires sellers participating in organized wholesale mar-
kets to “operate and schedule generating facilities. . . . or otherwise bid supply in 
a manner that complies with the Commission-approved rules and regulations of 
the applicable market.” 119 

NRG neither admitted nor denied the violations.120  NRG agreed to pay a civil 
penalty of $37,342, disgorge $32,658 to PJM (inclusive of interest), and to submit 
an annual compliance monitoring report for a period of one year, with a second 
year at Enforcement’s sole discretion.121 

6.  BP America Inc. 

On July 7, 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and Consent 
Agreement between Enforcement, and BP America Inc., BP Corporation North 
America, Inc., BP America Production Company, and BP Energy Company (col-
lectively BP) resolving remaining issues in the case after it was remanded by the 
United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, which in October 2022 af-
firmed in part and reversed in part the Commission’s ruling in the case.122  The 
Order related to BP’s Southeast Gulf Texas Team’s physical, next-day fixed price 
natural gas trading at Houston Ship Channel and related transport of natural gas 
from Katy, Texas to Houston Ship Channel during the period of September 18 to 
November 30, 2008 in the aftermath of Hurricane Ike.123 

The Commission previously issued an Order to Show Cause and Notice of 
Proposed Penalty on August 5, 2013.124  It then established a hearing before an 
ALJ to determine whether BP violated section 4A of the NGA and 18 C.F.R. sec-

 

 116. Id. at P 15. 
 117. 184 FERC ¶ 61,026, at P 17. 
 118. Id. at P 18. 
 119. Id. at P 20. 
 120. Id. at P 22. 
 121. 184 FERC ¶ 61,026, at PP 23-25. 
 122. BP America Inc., 184 FERC ¶ 61,016 at P 1 (2023). 
 123. Id. at P 4. 
 124. Id. at P 5. 
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tion 1c.1 and to ascertain certain facts relevant for any application of the Commis-
sion’s Penalty Guidelines.125  After the ALJ issued an initial decision, the Com-
mission issued an order on the Initial Decision,126 and assessed a civil penalty 
against BP in the amount of $20.16 million and disgorgement of $207,169.127  BP 
paid both the civil penalty and disgorgement under protest.128  BP appealed to the 
Fifth Circuit,129 and after briefing by both parties, the Fifth Circuit issued its ruling 
on October 20, 2022.130  The Fifth Circuit affirmed the Commission in part, re-
versed the Commission in part, and remanded for the Commission to reassess the 
civil penalty in accordance with the Fifth Circuit’s ruling partially in favor of BP 
regarding the scope of the Commission’s jurisdiction over the challenged con-
duct.131  The Fifth Circuit found that the Commission’s authority to address market 
manipulation does not “extend[] to any natural gas transaction which affects the 
price of a transaction under the NGA[,]” but rather “only over transactions in in-
terstate natural gas directly regulated by the [NGA].”132  On remand, the Court 
directed the Commission to reassess its civil penalty calculation to account for the 
transactions that were outside of the Commission’s jurisdiction. 

On remand, the Commission affirmed its finding that BP engaged in market 
manipulation for the reasons set forth in the original order on the Initial Decision 
and the rehearing of that order.133  BP acknowledged that the Fifth Circuit upheld 
the Commission’s finding of manipulation as to 18 jurisdictional transactions and 
remanded the case to the Commission for reassessment of the penalty amount in 
light of its jurisdictional holding.134  BP agreed to a civil penalty of $10,750,000, 
and agreed that it would not seek return of the disgorgement it already paid pend-
ing the appeal.135  Because BP paid its prior civil penalty under protest and that 
penalty exceeded the Civil Penalty agreed to by the parties, BP was not obligated 
to make any additional payment.136  Moreover, Enforcement agreed it would not 
object should BP choose to seek to reclaim the excess payment of $13,606,686 via 
suit.137  BP agreed to promptly notify Enforcement if it takes any actions to reclaim 
the excess payments.138 
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7.  Pacific Summit Energy LLC 

On June 30, 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and Consent 
Agreement between Enforcement and Pacific Summit Energy LLC (PSE) related 
to PSE’s physical trading of natural gas at Transco Zone 6.139 

Enforcement determined that during the October 2017 Bidweek, which oc-
curs monthly during the last five days of the month immediately preceding the 
delivery month,140 PSE engaged in a related-positions fraudulent scheme that vio-
lated Section 4A of the Natural Gas Act, 15 U.S.C. section 717c-1 and the Com-
mission’s corresponding regulation, 18 C.F.R. § 1c.1.141  Specifically, in June 
2017, a PSE trader purchased financial basis positions that settled on the Transco 
Zone 6 (NY and NNY) Inside FERC (IFERC) indexes for the September and Oc-
tober 2017 Bidweeks.142  PSE’s financial basis positions were “long,” so the value 
of the positions would increase as the price of the Transco Zone 6 indexes in-
creased.143  On September 25, 2017 (the first day of Bidweek), a PSE trader made 
physical purchases of gas that were higher than the prevailing market price for 
both that day and the remainder of the Bidweek. PSE suffered a loss on the phys-
ical purchases but realized a net profit on its related financial positions tied to the 
Transco Zone 6 (NY and NNY) IFERC indexes.144 

Enforcement determined that PSE’s October 2017 Bidweek physical trading 
had the effect of inflating physical natural gas prices in Transco Zone 6 resulting 
in increases in the value of PSE’s existing financial basis positions.145  Enforce-
ment determined that the inflation was increased by PSE purchasing physical gas 
at prices that were uneconomical and concentrating its purchases to “the first house 
of the first day of Bidweek,” thus signaling later trades.146  “Enforcement further 
determined that PSE was, or should have been, aware of the effect” the physical 
trading would have on its financial basis positions.147  Enforcement also deter-
mined that “PSE made its uneconomic purchases of physical gas,” “with either the 
intent or with a reckless disregard for how such trading would inflate the value of 
its existing financial positions.”148  “Enforcement [determined] that, on net, PSE’s 
October 2017 physical First of Month index positions, financial index swap posi-
tions, and financial basis swap positions improperly benefited PSE by 
$154,623.”149 

 

 139. Pacific Summit Energy LLC, 183 FERC ¶ 61,236 (2023). 
 140. Id. at 6; Stipulation and Consent Agreement, Pacific Summit Energy LLC, 183 FERC ¶ 61,236 at P          
12 (2023). 
 141. Stipulation and Consent Agreement, 183 FERC ¶ 61,236, at P 12; 183 FERC ¶ 61,236, at PP 6-7. 
 142. 183 FERC ¶ 61,236, at P 4. 
 143. Id. 
 144. Id. at P 5. 
 145. Id. at P 8. 
 146. 183 FERC ¶ 61,236, at P 8. 
 147. Id. 
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PSE neither admitted nor denied the violations.150  PSE agreed to pay a civil 
penalty of $360,000, to disgorge $154,623, and to submit annual compliance mon-
itoring reports for a period of two years.151  “The disgorgement payments [will] be 
made at the direction of Enforcement pro rata to market participants who had fi-
nancial instruments settle based on the effected indexes in October 2017.”152 

8.  Entergy Arkansas 

On June 22, 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and Consent 
Agreement between Enforcement and EAL related to energy offers into MISO for 
the EAL Hot Springs generation facility (Hot Springs).153 

Enforcement determined that Hot Springs is a combined cycle gas turbine 
that uses supplemental “duct-firing” which increases the heat energy in the gener-
ation process and ultimate output of electricity.154  Enforcement determined that, 
on four days in 2020, EAL submitted real-time energy offers into MISO for Hot 
Springs that communicated that Hot Springs was in a control mode that would 
respond to MISO’s dispatch instructions.155  However, during certain hours on 
those days “when the unit was in duct-firing range or dispatched into or out of the 
duct-firing range,” EAL did not follow MISO’s dispatch instructions for Hot 
Springs “in a timely manner.”156  Enforcement determined that the “dispatchers 
responsible for making energy market offers for” Hot Springs “relied on certain 
internal guidelines with respect to the operations” while in duct-firing mode and 
that the EAL structured the offers sometimes “in order to ‘block’ or ‘pin’ the unit 
to restrict MISO’s ability to dispatch the unit.”157  However, Enforcement also de-
termined that EAL did not financially benefit from the blocking or pinning.158 

Enforcement determined that EAL violated section 40.2.5.e of the MISO Tar-
iff and sections 35.41(a) and 35.41(b) of the Commission’s regulations.159  Spe-
cifically, Enforcement determined that EAL violated Tariff section 40.2.5.e s that, 
which requires “[t]he values in Offers representing the non-price information [ ] 
shall reflect the actual known physical capabilities and characteristics of the Gen-
eration Resources. . . .” 160 
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EAL neither admitted nor denied the violations.161  EAL paid a civil penalty 
of $52,000 and agreed to be subject to compliance monitoring for a period of 2 
years.162 

9.  OhmConnect, Inc. 

On May 22, 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and Consent 
Agreement between Enforcement, and OhmConnect, Inc. (Ohm) related to Ohm’s 
participation in the CAISO demand response market.163 

Ohm participated in the Demand Response Auction Mechanism (DRAM) pi-
lot program, under which demand response providers contract with Load-Serving 
Entities (LSEs) to provide given amounts of demand response.164  Under the pro-
gram, demand response providers communicate the amount of demand response 
they will provide to the LSEs, who then build those load reductions into their sup-
ply plans.165  “The LSEs submit their supply plans to CAISO to substantiate Re-
source Adequacy capacity contracted by the LSE.”166 

Enforcement determined that between January and June 2018, Ohm submit-
ted bids into the Day Ahead market the amount of demand response for which it 
had contracted with the LSEs.167  However, Enforcement also determined that 
Ohm could not fulfill those bids based on its metered registered load.168  Enforce-
ment determined that Ohm violated section 37.3.1.1 of the CAISO Tariff, which 
requires Market Participants to submit bids “from resources that are reasonably 
expected to be available and capable of performing at the levels specified in the 
bid.”169  Enforcement determined that as a result of its actions, Ohm received 
$8,906 in Resource Adequacy Availability Incentive Mechanism (RAAIM) pay-
ments it would not have received if it had submitted accurate bids.170 

Ohm neither admitted nor denied the violations.171  Ohm agreed to pay a civil 
penalty of $141,094 and to disgorge $8,906 to CAISO.172  The Order directed 
“CAISO to distribute the disgorgement pro rata to network load.”173  Ohm also 
agreed to submit to compliance monitoring for at least one year, with a second or 
third year at Enforcement’s discretion.174 

 

 161. 183 FERC ¶ 61,207, at P 15. 
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10.  Leapfrog Power, Inc. 

On May 22, 2023, FERC issued an order approving a Stipulation and Consent 
Agreement between Enforcement, and Leapfrog Power, Inc. (Leapfrog) related to 
Leapfrog’s participation in the CAISO demand response market.175 

Enforcement determined that from February to August of 2019, Leapfrog, “a 
‘virtual aggregator’ that connects electric vehicle, battery storage, smart thermo-
stat, and other flexible technologies to grids and electricity markets,”176 “submit-
ted bids into the Day Ahead market that it could not fulfill with its registered 
load.”177  Leapfrog participated in the DRAM pilot program, under which demand 
response providers contract with LSEs to provide given amounts of demand re-
sponse. 178   Under the program, demand response providers communicate the 
amount of demand response they will provide to the LSEs, who then build those 
load reductions into their supply plans.179  The LSEs submit their supply plans to 
CAISO to substantiate Resource Adequacy capacity contracted by the LSE.180 

Enforcement determined that from February to August 2019, Leapfrog bid 
into the Day Ahead market the amount of demand response for which it had con-
tracted with the LSEs.181  However, Enforcement also determined that Leapfrog 
could not fulfill those bids based on its metered registered load.182  Enforcement 
determined that Leapfrog’s actions violated section 37.3.1.1 of the CAISO Tariff, 
which requires Market Participants to submit bids from resources that are reason-
ably expected to be available and capable of performing at the levels specified in 
the bid.183  Enforcement determined that as a result of Leapfrog’s actions, it re-
ceived $46,120 in RAAIM payments it would not have received if it had submitted 
accurate bids.184 

Leapfrog neither admitted nor denied the violations.185  Leapfrog agreed to 
pay a civil penalty of $73,880 and to disgorge $46,120 to CAISO.186  The Order 
directed CAISO to distribute the disgorgement pro rata to network load.187  Leap-
frog also agreed to submit to compliance monitoring for at least one year, with a 
second or third year at Enforcement’s discretion.188 
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II.  THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION 

A.  Advisories and Alerts 

1.  Enforcement Advisory on Penalties, Monitors and Admissions 

On October 17, 2023, the CFTC’s Division of Enforcement issued and advi-
sory providing staff guidance on determining whether proposed civil monetary 
penalties are sufficient; when to impose a corporate compliance monitor or con-
sultant; what duties that monitor or consultant should have; and whether admis-
sions should be recommended in an enforcement action.189  With regard to penal-
ties, the Division of Enforcement is recalibrating how it is assessing proposed 
penalties to ensure that they “are at the level necessary to achieve general and 
specific deterrence, which may result in the Division recommending higher pen-
alties in resolutions than may have been imposed in similar cases previously.”190  
With regard to admissions and denials, the Division of Enforcement states that 
“respondents should no longer assume that no-admit, no-deny resolutions are the 
default. Rather, in each case, the Division will discuss with respondents whether 
admissions are appropriate.”191 

2. Alert Seeking Tips Relating to Carbon Markets Misconduct 

On June 20, 2023, the CFTC’s Whistleblower Office in the Division of En-
forcement issued an alert notifying the public on how to identify and report poten-
tial Commodity Exchange Act (CEA) violations connected to fraud or manipula-
tion in the carbon markets.192  In those markets, high-quality carbon credits, also 
known as carbon offsets, are purchased and sold bilaterally or on spot exchanges, 
and the CFTC has determined that there exists the potential for fraud and manip-
ulation. 

A. Energy-Related Enforcement Cases 

1. CFTC v. Logista Advisors LLC et al. 

On September 7, 2023, the CFTC filed a civil complaint in the U.S. District 
Court for the Northern District of Illinois against Logista Advisors LLC (Logista) 
and its head trader/principal/CEO, charging them with spoofing, engaging in a 
manipulative and deceptive scheme, failing to supervise, and for violating a prior 
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CFTC order.193  The alleged scheme involved crude oil and natural gas futures 
contracts–specifically, calendar spread contracts–traded on CME and ICE Futures 
Europe.194  The CFTC charged that such alleged conduct violated CEA sections 
4c(a)(5)(C) and 6(c)(1), 7 U.S.C. sections 6c(a)(5)(C), 9(1), Regulations 166.3 and 
180.1(a)(1) and (3), 17 C.F.R. sections 166.3, 180.1(a)(1), (3), and a 2017 order 
finding that, for several months in 2013 and 2014, Logista gave inadequate train-
ing, direction, and supervision to an employee trading crude oil futures.195 

2. In the Matter of Adam Cobb-Webb 

On August 1, 2023, the CFTC issued an order simultaneously filing and set-
tling charges against UK-based trader Adam Cobb-Webb for engaging in multiple 
instances of spoofing in West Texas Intermediate (WTI) light sweet crude oil fu-
tures contracts traded on New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc. (NYMEX).196  Spe-
cifically, the CFTC alleged that Cobb-Webb “placed bids and offers for WTI fu-
tures with the intent to cancel his bids or offers before execution, i.e., spoofing” 
and thereby violated sections 4c(a)(5)(C) and 6(c)(1) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. sec-
tions 6c(a)(5)(C), 9(1), and CFTC Regulation 180.1(a)(1),(3), 17 C.F.R. section 
180.1(a)(1), (3).197  The order requires Cobb-Webb to pay a $150,000 civil mone-
tary penalty and imposes a one-year ban from trading on or subject to the rules of 
any CFTC-designated exchange and all other CFTC-registered entities and in all 
commodity interests.198  Cobb-Webb is also ordered to cease and desist from vio-
lating the spoofing prohibition the CEA.199 

3.  CFTC v. Coquest Inc. 

On March 7, 2023, the U.S. District Court of the Northern District of Texas 
issued a consent order imposing monetary sanctions and injunctive relief against 
Coquest Inc. (Coquest), a registered introducing broker, and Coquest’s owners and 
affiliated trading firms.200  The order resolves an October 20, 2021 complaint filed 
by the CFTC and finds the defendants liable for misappropriating the block trade 
order information of Coquest’s brokerage customers without their knowledge or 
consent.201 Coquest had facilitated the block trades for its brokerage customers “in 
futures contracts and options, including natural gas futures listed on CME and 

 

 193. Complaint for Injunctive Relief and Other Equitable Relief and for Civ. Monetary Penalties Under the 
Commodity Exchange Act and Comm’n Regulations, CFTC v. Logista Advisors LLC, No. 1:23-cv-07485, 1-2 
(N.D. Ill. Sept. 7, 2023), ECF No. 1. 
 194. Id. at 26-31. 
 195. Id. at 1-2. 
 196. In re Adam Cobb-Webb, CFTC No. 23-32, 2 (Aug. 1, 2023). 
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 200. Consent Order for Permanent Injunction, Civ. Monetary Penalty and Other Equitable Relief Against 
Coquest Inc., Buttonwood LLC, Weva Props. Ltd., Dennis Weinman, and John Vassallo, CFTC v. Coquest Inc., 
et al., No. 3:21-cv-2599 (N.D. Tex. Mar. 7, 2023), ECF No. 51. 
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ICE.”202  The order requires the defendants to disgorge $496,021 in illicit profits 
and pay an additional $2.5 million civil monetary penalty.203  The order also im-
poses six-month trading and registration bans on one of Coquest’s owners, and 
bans him and Coquest from brokering block trades on behalf of other people for 
two years.204  Additionally, the order permanently enjoins the defendants from en-
gaging in further violations of the CEA and CFTC regulations.205 

III.  THE NORTH AMERICAN ELECTRIC RELIABILITY CORPORATION 

In 2023, NERC submitted notices of penalty to FERC regarding forty-two 
violations of reliability standards, for which registered entities agreed to pay 
roughly $3.7 million in penalties.206  This represents a slight increase from the 
number of violations identified in notices of penalty during the previous year, and 
a slight decrease in the dollar value of penalties collected.207 

IV.  PIPELINE & HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SAFETY ADMINISTRATION 

PHMSA initiated 198 pipeline safety enforcement cases as of December 
2023, which is a decrease from the 227 cases initiated in 2022.208  PHMSA also 
closed 185 enforcement actions in 2023, down from 213 actions closed in 2022.209  
PHMSA actively employed its civil penalty authority, proposing nearly $12.1 mil-
lion in penalties across forty-seven civil penalty cases, slightly exceeding the 
$11.6 million across forty-four civil penalty cases in 2022.210 

V.  THE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY 

DOE enforcement activities fall within three categories.211  “Conservation 
standards cases deal with manufacturers that distributed products in the U.S. that 
DOE has found do not meet the required energy standards.”212  “Compliance cer-
tification cases deal with manufacturers that either have not certified that the prod-
ucts that they manufacture and distribute in the U.S. have been tested and meet the 
applicable energy conservation standards or have submitted invalid compliance 
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certifications.”213  Finally, DOE continues to support the enforcement of the En-
vironmental Protection Agency’s ENERGY STAR appliance rating program.  
However, the DOE Office of the General Counsel’s (GC) practice is now to refer 
“to the EPA any products DOE tests that do not meet Energy STAR specifica-
tions.”214  DOE GC has not initiated new ENERGY STAR enforcement actions of 
its own since 2015.215 

DOE’s enforcement activity in 2023 increased significantly compared to 
2022, with the agency’s Office of the General Counsel (GC) resolving eleven con-
servation standards noncompliance cases216 and thirty-four compliance certifica-
tion enforcement cases.217 

VI.  THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

This year, the Criminal Division of DOJ released several revisions to its cor-
porate criminal enforcement policies and procedures.  These revisions follow Dep-
uty Attorney Lisa Monaco’s September 22 memorandum (Monaco Memo) provid-
ing “guidance on how prosecutors should ensure individual and corporate 
accountability, including through evaluation of: a corporation’s history of miscon-
duct; self-disclosure and cooperation provided by a corporation; the strength of a 
corporation’s existing compliance program; and the use of monitors, including 
their selection and the appropriate scope of a monitor’s work.”218  The memoran-
dum also emphasized “the importance of transparency in corporate criminal en-
forcement.”219 

A. Evaluation of Corporate Compliance Programs 

On March 3, 2023, the Criminal Division published revised guidance on the 
Evaluation of Corporate Compliance Programs (ECCP).220  The 2023 revision to 
the ECCP for the first time (1) adds guidance “for the use of personal devices, 
communications platforms, and messaging applications;” (2) notes that companies 
should track data related “to disciplinary actions to measure effectiveness of in-
vestigations and consequences;” and (3) emphasizes the importance of adequate 
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discipline for misconduct, and leveraging corporate compensation structures and 
clawbacks to promote a culture of compliance.221 

B.  Two-Part Pilot Program Regarding Compensation Incentives and 
Clawbacks 

On March 3, 2023, the Criminal Division also announced a two-part pilot 
program regarding compensation incentives and clawbacks (Pilot Program).222  
The Pilot Program requires companies entering into criminal resolutions to imple-
ment “compliance-related criteria in their compensation and bonus system and to 
report” about such implementation.223  It also “directs prosecutors to consider pos-
sible fine reductions where companies seek to recoup compensation from culpable 
employees, and others who supervised the employee or knew of, or were willfully 
blind to, the misconduct.”224 

C.  Corporate Enforcement and Voluntary Self-Disclosure Policy 

On January 17, 2023, the Criminal Division released a new Enforcement and 
Voluntary Self-Disclosure Policy (Self-Disclosure Policy) (previously known as 
the FCPA Corporate Enforcement Policy).225  The Self-Disclosure Policy estab-
lishes a presumption that (absent aggravating circumstances and with disgorge-
ment) the company will receive a declination when a company has voluntarily 
self-disclosed misconduct to the Criminal Division, fully cooperated, and timely 
and appropriately remediated.226  The Self-Disclosure Policy also provides for in-
creased credit for voluntary self-disclosure in cases where a declination is not 
granted.227 Specifically, DOJ may recommend a reduction of at least 50% and up 
to 75% off the low end of the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines (U.S.S.G.) range as part 
of the criminal resolution where a party voluntarily self-disclosed the misconduct 
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and cooperated, and to “up to a 50% reduction off of the low end of the U.S.S.G. 
fine range” where the party did not voluntarily self-disclose but did cooperate.228 
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